STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 08 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARIUS WALKER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002559

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge abuse her discretion by refusing to admit a letter written by Appellant's codefendant, Latrell Strong, in which Strong exculpated Appellant and admitted his own guilt for the burglary and larceny for which Appellant was indicted and tried, where this letter was properly authenticated pursuant to Rule 901, SCRE, and admissible as an out of court statement against interest pursuant to Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, and as evidence of third party guilt?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on December 15, 2015 for first degree burglary, grand larceny, and possession of a stolen vehicle. R. 418-423. His case was called to trial on October 16, 2017 before the Honorable Jocelyn Newman, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Richard Cathcart and Jeremiah Shellenberg represented the state, and Aimee Zmroczek represented Appellant. R. 1.

On October 18, 2017, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 390, ll. 11-23. He was sentenced to thirty-six years for first degree burglary, five years consecutive for grand larceny, and thirty days consecutive for possession of a stolen vehicle. R. 404, ll. 1-8. The aggregate sentence was forty-one years and thirty days imprisonment.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. (quoting Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge abused her discretion by refusing to admit a letter written by Appellant's codefendant, Latrell Strong, in which Strong exculpated Appellant and admitted his own guilt for the burglary and larceny for which Appellant was indicted and tried, where this letter was properly authenticated pursuant to Rule 901, SCRE, and admissible as an out of court statement against interest pursuant to Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, and as evidence of third party guilt.

Facts at Trial

Around one o'clock on the afternoon of July 21, 2015, Julie Rieger was driving her young daughter in a golf cart to the pool at the Rockbridge Country Club, which was about a mile away from their home. R. 33, l. 1 – 34, l. 14. As they passed by their next door neighbor's house, Rieger saw a car in the driveway that she had never seen before. She also saw two young black males walking onto the neighbor's "stoop." The men opened the screen door, looked around, and began knocking on the front door. Their behavior "registered as strange" and "raised the hairs on the back of [Rieger's] neck." R. 38, ll. 1-20. No other vehicles were in the driveway except for this "odd, unusual car" and Rieger knew her neighbors, the Johnsons, were not home. R. 38, l. 21 – 39, l. 2.

After passing the Johnsons' house, Rieger called her husband, told him what she saw, and asked him to call the Forest Acres Police Department to "come check it out." R. 39, ll. 3-11. After speaking with her husband, Rieger turned around and drove back by the Johnsons' house. The two men were no longer standing on the "stoop." However, Rieger noticed that the gate on the left side of the house, which led to the backyard, was open. R. 40, ll. 1-7. The unusual vehicle was still in the driveway. R. 40, ll. 8-9.

When Rieger returned to her house, her husband was standing in the driveway and was on the telephone. R. 41, l. 24 – 42, l. 11. Rieger then called her other neighbor, Sally Metts, who also lived next door to the Johnsons, told her what she observed, and asked her to “go to the back room of her house and see if she could see anything going on in the backyard.” R. 42, ll. 15-23.

After speaking with Rieger, Sally Metts went into her backyard and walked to the fence that separated her yard from the Johnsons’ yard. Through the bushes, Metts saw two black males coming out of the back of the Johnsons’ house carrying a large flat screen television. R. 63, l. 4 – 64, l. 19. She then went back inside her house to a room with a window that faces the side of the Johnsons’ house. From there, she saw two black males “going past [her] fast with a TV.” They were holding the television at the bottom, walked through the gate at the entrance of the backyard, and eventually “threw” the television into the backseat of the car that was parked in the driveway. R. 65, l. 20 – 67, l. 13.

As the men were getting into the car to leave, Detective Baxter, who at the time was assigned to the patrol unit with the Forest Acres Police Department, pulled into the Johnsons’ driveway, blocking in the car that was parked there. Baxter saw two black males standing by the car. When the men saw Baxter, they took off running into the Johnsons’ backyard and ultimately “hopped the fence.” R. 68, ll. 2-19; R. 91, ll. 3-9.

For the next forty-five minutes numerous officers with the Forest Acres Police Department and the Richland County Sheriff’s Department, along with a K-9, chased the two black males until they were ultimately apprehended. R. 111, l. 16 – 115, l. 20; R. 123, l. 2 – 129, l. 12; R. 136, l. 7 – 143, l. 20; R. 151, l. 5 – 154, l. 22; R. 191, l. 10 – 196, l. 10. Appellant was caught in the backyard of a residence and held at gunpoint until he was handcuffed. R. 142, l. 6

- 143, l. 3; R. 152, l. 23 - 154, l. 10. His codefendant, later identified as Latrell Strong, was apprehended by K-9 Indy hiding under a car parked in front of the house where Appellant was arrested. R. 143, ll. 4-13; R. 154, ll. 14-18; R. 155, l. 23 - 156, l. 13; R. 195, l. 13 - 196, l. 17.

The car parked in the Johnsons' driveway was reported stolen earlier that morning. R. 111, ll. 8-14. On the backseat of the car, officers found two flat screen televisions, two laptops, two iPhones, an iPad, two iPhone cases, headphones, and other electronic accessories. Christopher Johnson identified these items as being stolen from his home. R. 169, l. 7 - 172, l. 22. Latrell Strong's DNA, and that of an unidentified second person, was found on several of the stolen electronics. However, Appellant was excluded as a possible contributor to this DNA. R. 242, l. 10 - 243, l. 13; R. 247, l. 21 - 248, l. 10.

Julie Rieger and Sally Metts were both shown two photographic lineups by law enforcement. In the first lineup, Rieger identified Latrell Strong as one of the individuals she saw at the Johnsons' residence. In the second lineup, she identified a second person she believed was involved in the burglary. While Appellant's photograph was included in this second lineup, Rieger identified another male as being involved. R. 52, l. 12 - 54, l. 15. Sally Metts could not identify anyone in either lineup. R. 69, l. 19 - 70, l. 1; R. 75, l. 2 - 76, l. 11; R. 307, l. 1 - 310, l. 6.

Appellant's defense at trial as to the burglary and larceny was that he was an accessory after the fact. He argued Latrell Strong and a second individual, who Rieger identified in the lineup and who possibly contributed to the unidentified DNA that was found on the stolen electronics, committed the burglary and called Appellant for a ride after the fact. R. 13, ll. 1-4; R. 356, l. 15-22. Appellant admitted to being guilty of possession of a stolen vehicle. R. 352, l.

24 – 353, l. 3. His DNA was found on the steering wheel and gearshift of the stolen vehicle as well as on a drink bottle found inside the car. R. 240, l. 1 – 241, l. 18; R. 243, l. 21 – 244, l. 1.

How the Issue was Presented Below

During his presentation of evidence, Appellant sought to introduce a letter written by his codefendant, Latrell Strong, in which Strong exculpates Appellant and maintains Appellant was an accessory after the fact. R. 2, l. 15 – 5, l. 8; R. 256, l. 24 – 258, l. 6; See R. 407-408. The undated letter was postmarked on September 7, 2016 and mailed to Appellant's defense counsel. The envelope lists the return address as Latrell Strong, #608448, A.S.G. Detention Center, 201 John Mark Dial Dr., Columbia, SC 29209. R. 407-408. The letter reads:

I Latrell Strong is writeing this letter on the behalf of the defendant Darius Walker [Appellant] witch is my co-defendant of a burglary 2nd that he knew nothing about until after the fact. The burglary 2nd was my (Latrell Strong) doing. I simply called the defendant Darius Walker for a ride. When he came to pick me up I still did not say anything about what I had done until the police car pulled up to the residence. By then it was fare to late. I am just writeing this letter to own up to my actions like a man and put all this behind me. If you would like to get in contact with me the address to where I am being held is on the front of this letter.

R. 407-408.

Appellant attempted to admit the letter by calling Strong as a witness. However, Strong invoked his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent and refused to answer any questions. R. 259, l. 17 – 261, l. 12. Since Strong was an unavailable witness, Appellant then proffered several witnesses to authenticate the letter and envelope.

Christina Metze, defense counsel's paralegal at A.J.Z. Law Firm, testified *in camera* that she obtained Defense Exhibit No. 20, the letter and envelope from Latrell Strong, from the office's PO box. She opened the letter, scanned the document, and made a note in the case file. R. 274, l. 5 – 275, l. 10.

Washava Moyd, the division manager of operations at the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center (ASGDC), testified *in camera* that Latrell Strong's inmate number was 608448, which matched the inmate number listed on the return address. R. 278, l. 15 – 279, l. 10. She also testified that Strong was incarcerated at the ASGDC from July 21, 2015 until March 27, 2017 and, therefore, was incarcerated on September 7, 2016, the date the letter was postmarked. R. 279, l. 11 – 280, l. 1. She further explained the process by which inmates at the ASGDC send mail. Specifically, an inmate would give the mail to a unit officer, who in turn would give it to a mail clerk, who stamps the back of the envelope indicating that it came from the ASGDC and then takes it to the post office. R. 280, ll. 2-17. Moyd identified Defense Exhibit No. 20 as coming from the ASGDC based on the stamp on the back of the envelope. R. 280, l. 18 – 281, l. 3. She also clarified that inmates receive pre-stamped envelopes, meaning all of the envelopes come with a stamp already on them. R. 281, ll. 4-19.

Lastly, Investigator John Carwell identified the DNA consent to search form and the advice of rights form, that were marked as Defense Exhibit Nos. 18 and 19, respectively, that were signed by Latrell Strong during the course of law enforcement's investigation. Carwell testified that Strong signed these documents in his presence. R. 286, ll. 6-21.

Defense counsel argued, based on this evidence, that Appellant had sufficiently authenticated the letter and envelope, marked as Defense Exhibit No. 20, pursuant to Rule 901, SCRE. She emphasized subsection (b)(3) of Rule 901 in support of her argument and asserted the jury could compare the known signature of Latrell Strong on Defense Exhibit Nos. 18 and 19 with the signature that appeared on the letter. Counsel also cited to subsection (b)(4) and argued the substance of the letter, along with its appearance and other distinctive characteristics, including the use of a pre-stamped envelope, the ASGDC stamp on the back of the envelope, the

use of Strong's inmate number, the fact that it was postmarked while Strong was incarcerated, and the actual content of the body of the letter, established its authenticity. Counsel concluded that it was ultimately a jury question. R. 295, l. 4 – 297, l. 14.

The trial judge ruled the letter was inadmissible because it was not properly authenticated. While she acknowledged Strong's signature on Defense Exhibit Nos. 18 and 19 "appear[s] to be similar to" the signature on the letter, she stated the "problem is the signature and the letter appear to be in different handwriting. And the court has heard no testimony from any witness regarding the printed portion of this letter and any attempt to authenticate the printed portion of the letter." The judge asserted Appellant failed to authenticate the content of the letter "because for all anybody knows, his [Strong's] signature is on a blank piece of paper and somebody fills it [in] and mails it from the jail." R. 297, l. 15 – 298, l. 14. Consequently, based on the totality of the circumstances, the judge concluded Defense Exhibit No. 20 was not sufficiently authenticated and, therefore, not admissible. R. 298, ll. 15-22.

Discussion

The trial judge abused her discretion by refusing to admit Defense Exhibit No. 20, the letter and envelope from Latrell Strong in which Strong exculpates Appellant and admits his own guilt, since this exhibit was properly authenticated pursuant to Rule 901, SCRE, and was admissible pursuant to Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, and as evidence of third party guilt.

Authentication

"It is black letter law that evidence must be authenticated or identified in order to be admissible." State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 488, 818 S.E.2d 735, 740 (2018) (citing State v. Rich, 293 S.C. 172, 173, 359 S.E.2d 281, 281 (1987) (noting prior to the adoption of the rules of evidence that an exception to the hearsay rule does not "absolve the offering party from the usual

requirements of authentication”). “Upon adoption of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, this common law rule was codified at Rule 901, SCRE.” Id. (citing State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 128-132, 687 S.E.2d 35, 39-41 (2009)).

Rule 901(a), SCRE, states, “The requirement of authentication as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter is what its proponent claims.” Although not exhaustive, Rule 901 further provides examples of authentication or identification which conform with the requirements of the rule. Rule 901(b), SCRE. Relevant here are subsections three and four. Subsection three states, “Comparison by Trier or Expert Witness. Comparison by the trier of fact or by expert witnesses with specimens which have been authenticated.” Rule 901(b)(3), SCRE. Subsection four states, “Distinctive Characteristics and the Like. Appearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances.” Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE.

“The proof of authenticity required preliminary to the introduction of an instrument in evidence need not be direct proof. Authenticity of documentary evidence may be shown, so as to render it admissible in evidence, by indirect or circumstantial evidence.” Winburn v. Minnesota Mut. Life Ins. Co., 261 S.C. 568, 576-577, 201 S.E.2d 372, 376 (1973) (citing State v. Wilson, 246 S.C. 580, 145 S.E.2d 20 (1965)). “A writing may possess certain distinguishing characteristics which, coupled with circumstances, are sufficient to identify its source or author.” § 17:6. Authentication by circumstantial evidence: Distinguishing characteristics, Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers § 17:6 (citing State v. Wilson, 246 S.C. 580, 145 S.E.2d 20 (1965)). “For example, a letter indicating it is in reply to a letter from its addressee is generally deemed to be sufficiently authenticated.” Id. (citing Leesville Mfg. Co. v. Morgan Wood & Iron Works, 75 S.C. 342, 55 S.E. 768 (1906)). “Likewise, if the contents of a letter

reference matters which only the person signing it would have reason to know, that is ordinarily sufficient proof of authorship.” Id. (citing State v. Hightower, 221 S.C. 91, 69 S.E.2d 363 (1952) and McCormick, Handbook of the Law of Evidence (2d ed.) § 225).

“[T]he burden to authenticate . . . is not high” and requires only that the proponent “offer[] a satisfactory foundation from which the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic.” Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 64-65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting United States v. Hassan, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir. 2014)) (alternations in original).

Here, Appellant presented sufficient evidence to authenticate the letter and envelope marked as Defense Exhibit No. 20 for its admissibility. Pursuant to Rule 901(b)(3), the jury could have compared the signature on Defense Exhibit No. 20 with the known signature of Latrell Strong on the DNA consent to search form and the advice of rights form, that were marked as Defense Exhibit Nos. 18 and 19, respectively. It was up to the jury to determine whether the signature on the letter was that of Latrell Strong based on its own comparison with these documents. The trial judge abused her discretion by ruling Appellant failed to authenticate the “printed portion of the letter” because Appellant did not introduce any testimony or documentary evidence of Strong’s known “printed” handwriting as opposed to his signature. Even if Strong did not write the printed portion of the letter, his signature at the bottom of the letter indicated he adopted or approved of the contents of the letter, just as law enforcement officers often write out a statement for a witness and the witness adopts the statement by signing the bottom. This was a factual issue for the jury to determine.

Additionally, pursuant to Rule 901(b)(4), the appearance, contents, substance, and distinctive characteristics of the letter and envelope established its authenticity. The body of the

letter identified Appellant as Strong's codefendant and discussed Strong's own guilt for the burglary and larceny for which he and Appellant were both charged. The envelope was identified as a pre-stamped envelope inmates at the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center are given and was stamped by the mail clerk at the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center with the facility's disclaimer. Furthermore, the letter was post-marked while Latrell Strong was incarcerated at the ASGDC and noted his correct inmate number. Therefore, Appellant met the low burden of proof necessary to authenticate Defense Exhibit No. 20. The trial judge erred by finding otherwise.

Hearsay

In State v. Doctor, 306 S.C. 527, 413 S.E.2d 36 (1992), our Supreme Court first adopted the rule that out of court statements against penal interest made by an unavailable declarant are admissible at trial. State v. Kinloch, 338 S.C. 385, 388, 526 S.E.2d 705, 706 (2000). "However, if offered to exculpate the accused in a criminal trial, they are admissible only if corroborating evidence **clearly** indicates the trustworthiness of the statements." Id. (emphasis in original); See State v. Forney, 321 S.C. 353, 468 S.E.2d 641 (1996).

Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, codified this exception to the hearsay rule. State v. Cooper, 334 S.C. 540, 514 S.E.2d 584 (1999). Rule 804(b)(3) provides:

Statement Against Interest. A statement which was at the time of its making so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest, or so far tended to subject the declarant to civil or criminal liability, or to render invalid a claim by the declarant against another, that a reasonable person in the declarant's position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true. A statement tending to expose the declarant to criminal liability and offered to exculpate the accused is not admissible unless corroborating circumstances clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement.

In Kinloch, our Supreme Court asserted that the party offering the statement bears a "formidable burden" in meeting the requirements of Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE. Kinloch, 338 S.C. 385, 388, 526 S.E.2d 705, 706-707 (citing United States v. Lowe, 65 F.3d 1137, 1146 (4th Cir.

1995)). The Court explained, “[T]he rule does not require that **the information within the statement** be clearly corroborated, it means only that there be corroborating circumstances which clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement itself, i.e., that the statement was actually made.” Id. at 389, 526 S.E.2d at 707 (emphasis in original). “The corroboration requirement is a preliminary determination as to the statement’s admissibility, not an ultimate determination about the statement’s truth.” Id. (citing 5 Weinstein’s Federal Evidence, § 804.06(5)(a) (2d Ed.1999)).

Here, Appellant presented sufficient evidence to establish “the statement was actually made.” The same evidence used to authenticate Defense Exhibit No. 20 established the letter was written by Latrell Strong, whether its content was true or not. Again, the bottom of the letter contained Strong’s signature and there was evidence from which the jury could have concluded this was in fact Strong’s signature. See Defense Exhibit Nos. 18 and 19. The return address on the envelope contained Strong’s correct inmate number and indicated he was incarcerated at the ASGDC. Moreover, Appellant presented evidence Strong was incarcerated at the ASGDC on the date the letter was postmarked and that the envelope was a pre-stamped envelope given to inmates at the facility and was stamped on the back with the facility’s disclaimer. These are corroborating circumstances that clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement.

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