ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
The Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002559

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DARIUS WALKER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803)-748-4785

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
MAR 22 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
The Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly refused to admit a letter allegedly from Latrell Strong because the body of the letter was not properly authenticated and because the letter was hearsay and did not meet the requirements for an exception to hearsay under Rule 804(b)(3) SCRE. Even if the trial judge erred in excluding the letter from evidence, any error was harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial.

Appellant contends the trial judge abused her discretion by refusing to admit a letter into evidence allegedly written by Appellant's codefendant, Latrell Strong. Appellant argues the letter was properly authenticated and was admissible as an exception to the rule against hearsay under Rule 804(b)(3) SCRE. Appellant's argument is without merit. The trial judge correctly excluded the letter because Appellant did not authenticate the body of the letter or otherwise prove that the letter was what it purported to be. Additionally, even if Appellant had properly authenticated the letter, the letter was still inadmissible as hearsay because corroborating circumstances did not clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statements contained in the letter. Furthermore, even if the trial judge erred in excluding the letter, any error was harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

Authentication

Appellant initially argues the letter was properly authenticated because the signature on the letter could be compared to other known examples of Strong's signature. Additionally, Appellant argued other distinctive elements of the letter and the envelope in which it was contained such as the presence of Strong's inmate number and a stamp from the local jail contributed to the letter's authenticity. However, the trial judge correctly refused to admit the

letter because Appellant failed to offer any evidence to authenticate the body of the letter and only attempted to authenticate Strong's signature.

"The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." Rule 901, SCRE. Evidence must be authenticated before it can be admitted State v. Aragon, 354 S.C. 334, 336, 579 S.E.2d 626, 627 (Ct. App. 2003). "'The burden to authenticate . . . is not high', and requires only that the proponent 'offer a satisfactory foundation from which the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic.'" Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 64, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting United States v. Hassan, 742 F.3d 104, 132 (4th Cir. 2014)).

Here, Appellant failed to produce evidence that the body of the letter was actually written by Strong. Appellant attempted to authenticate the letter by proffering testimony from three witnesses during an *in camera* hearing. First, Appellant called Christina Metze who worked as the paralegal for Appellant's trial counsel. Metze testified that she received a letter that was allegedly from Strong which bore his inmate number and a stamp from the Alvin S. Glenn detention center. However, Metze admitted that she had never received any written communication from Strong before and could not identify his handwriting. (R. 275-76). Additionally, Metze admitted that Strong's inmate number was public information that anyone could look up. (R. 276-77). Washava Moyd of Alvin S. Glenn detention center confirmed Strong's inmate number and the dates of his incarceration. Moyd also admitted that inmate numbers were publicly accessible information on the jail's website and that any of the jails 850 inmates were capable of sending such a letter. (R. 281-84). John Carwell testified that he observed Strong write his signature in cursive on an Advice of Rights Form and a DNA Consent

to Search Form prior to the trial. (R. 286). However, Carwell never saw Strong write in print. (R. 289). In fact, the only time Carwell witnessed Strong write anything was when he observed Strong write his entire name in cursive on the two forms. (R. 289, 405-06). Carwell could not even say that the signature on Defense Exhibit #20 was Strong's handwriting. (R. 291).

Appellant failed to provide sufficient evidence to support a finding that Defense Exhibit #20 was what Appellant claimed it to be. Appellant did not produce any evidence to show that the printed body of the letter was written by Strong. Appellant merely attempted to authenticate the signature on Defense Exhibit #20 as belonging to Strong, but even the signature on Defense Exhibit #20 is dissimilar to the known signatures on Defense Exhibits #18 and #19. In Defense Exhibit's #18 and #19, Strong wrote out his full name as "Latrell Strong." (R. 405-06). However, on Defense Exhibit #20 the signature reads "L. Strong." Even if Appellant had properly authenticated Strong's signature, Appellant still failed to authenticate the printed section of the letter. This was a critical deficiency in Appellant's authentication attempt, because there was no way for the trial judge or the jury to know whether Strong had actually written the letter, or whether he signed a blank sheet of paper that someone else subsequently filled in. Indeed the trial judge recognized this problem when making her ruling on the admissibility of the letter:

The problem is the signature and the letter appear to be in different handwriting. And the court has heard no testimony from any witness regarding the printed portion of this letter and any attempt to authenticate the printed portion of the letter. That is the same print or appears to be the same print that is on the envelope, and I do see that there is an Alvin S. Glenn stamp on the back of the envelope. But I think the requirement is more than just authentication of the signature but the contents of the letter because for all anybody knows, his signature is on a blank piece of paper and somebody fills it and mails it from the jail.

You may have satisfied your burden if someone else had seen him write this letter, if he had given a written statement to the police, or something else that authenticates the substance of the letter because the court has to be satisfied that this document is what it purports to be. And based on the totality of the

circumstances; the court cannot make that finding. Therefore, the document is not sufficiently authenticated and is not admissible.

(R. 298, lines 3-22).

The other authenticating characteristics cited by Appellant also fail to prove that Strong wrote the letter. Indeed, as Moyd and Metze admitted on cross examination, Strong's inmate number was publicly available information and could have been obtained and used to send the letter by any of the 850 inmates at Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center. Without any authentication of the printed portion of the letter or any other evidence proving that the letter was what Appellant claimed it to be, the trial judge did not abuse her discretion in refusing to admit Defense Exhibit #20 into evidence. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

Hearsay

Appellant next contends the letter is admissible as an exception to the rule against hearsay under Rule 804(b)(3) SCRE. Appellant's argument is without merit. Even if Appellant properly authenticated the body of the letter, Defense Exhibit #20 was still properly excluded from evidence because Appellant was unable to establish corroborating circumstances to indicate the trustworthiness of the statement made in Defense Exhibit #20.

"Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c) SCRE. A declarant is unavailable as a witness when "exempted by ruling of the court on the ground of privilege from testifying concerning the subject matter of declarant's statement." Rule 804(a)(1) SCRE. When a declarant is unavailable, their statements may be admissible if the statement at issue is against the declarant's interest. Rule 804(b)(3) SCRE provides:

Statement Against Interest. A statement which was at the time of its making so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest, or so far tended to subject the declarant to civil or criminal liability, or to render invalid a claim by

the declarant against another, that a reasonable person in the declarant's position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true. A statement tending to expose the declarant to criminal liability and offered to exculpate the accused is not admissible unless corroborating circumstances clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement.

Out-of-court statements against penal interest made by an unavailable declarant are admissible at trial. State v. Doctor, 306 S.C. 527, 413 S.E.2d 36 (1992). However, "A defendant seeking to offer a statement pursuant to this exception bears the 'formidable burden' of establishing that corroborating circumstances clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement." State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 501, 552 S.E.2d 284, 287 (2001). "Whether a statement has been sufficiently corroborated is a question 'left to the discretion of the trial judge 'after considering the totality of the circumstances under which a declaration against penal interest was made.'" Wannamaker, 346 S.C. at 501, 552 S.E.2d 2 at 287 (quoting State v. Kinloch, 338 S.C., 385, 391 n.5, 526 S.E.2d 705, 208, n.5 (1996)). "The rule does not require that the information within the statement be clearly corroborated, it means only that there be corroborating circumstances which clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement itself, i.e., that the statement was actually made." Kinloch, 338 S.C. at 388, 468 S.E.2d at 644.

Here, Appellant failed to produce corroborating evidence to indicate the trustworthiness of the statement allegedly made by Strong in Defense Exhibit #20. Appellant not only failed to show that the statement made in Defense Exhibit #20 was trustworthy, but he failed to show that the statement was even made by Strong.

The statement in Defense Exhibit #20 claims that Appellant merely arrived to pick up Strong and that Appellant knew nothing of Strong's illegal activity until law enforcement arrived. (R. 407). However, this statement is contradicted by all the evidence presented at trial. Two eyewitnesses testified that two black males were in the process of loading a TV into the

backseat of a car which was parked in Victim's driveway. Officer Baxter saw two individuals on either side of the car loading the TV inside when he arrived. (R. 102). Sally Metts likewise testified to seeing two men in the process of loading a TV into the backseat when police arrived. (R. 67-68). Similarly, a third eyewitness, Julie Rieger, attested to seeing an unknown car parked in Victim's driveway and two black males acting suspiciously. (R. 37-38). No eyewitness testimony corroborates the statement made in Defense Exhibit #20. No witness testified they saw a car pull up and pick up a single black male. Each eyewitness described a parked car and two black males either looking around the house or actively loading stolen material in the car, which contradicts the claims made in Defense Exhibit #20. Finally, and perhaps foremost, the statement lacks trustworthiness because it does not make any logical sense. Defense Exhibit #20 claims that Appellant was completely unaware that a crime had taken place when he picked up Strong. For this statement to be true, Strong would have to load the entire backseat of the car with electronics without Appellant noticing or Appellant had to believe there was nothing strange about being asked to pick up a friend from a random house who just happened to be carrying several TV's with him. The statement contained in Defense Exhibit #20 is not trustworthy.

Even if the statement made in Defense Exhibit #20 was trustworthy, Appellant failed to present any corroborating circumstances to indicate the statement was made by Strong. The signature on the letter and the body of the letter are written in two different styles of handwriting: one in print and one in cursive. No attempt was made to authenticate the printed portion of the letter as being written by Strong. The trial judge was rightfully concerned that: "For all anybody knows, his signature is on a blank piece of paper and somebody fills it and mails it from the jail." (R.298, lines 12-14). No evidence was presented for the trial judge to determine whether Strong actually wrote the body of the letter. Furthermore, information on the envelope, such as Strong's

inmate number, is publicly accessible information that any of the approximately 850 inmates at the jail could have discovered and wrote on the envelope. (R. 294). No witnesses testified that they actually saw Strong write and sign the letter in question, and Appellant did not produce testimony from any expert witnesses to verify Strong's handwriting. Appellant failed to introduce sufficient corroborating evidence that the letter was written by Strong. The trial judge properly acted within her discretion in excluding Defense Exhibit #20 because there was insufficient corroboration to meet the exception to the rule against hearsay under Rule 804(b)(3) SCRE. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

Harmless Error

Even if this Court determines the trial judge erred by not admitting Defense Exhibit #20 into evidence, any error is harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial.

"Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case." State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). "No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case." State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). "Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed." Thompson, 352 S.C. at 562, 575 S.E.2d at 83. "Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial." Mitchell, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (quoting State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971)).

The evidence presented against Appellant at trial was overwhelming. Appellant was apprehended in the vicinity of Victim's house after being chased by police. Appellant was caught

in the backyard of a nearby house in close proximity to Strong who had been tracked by a K-9 to that location. (R. 142, 153, 156, 196). Appellant was out of breath and sweating when law enforcement found him. (R. 145). Appellant's DNA was also on the steering wheel and gearshift of the stolen car as well as on several drink bottles inside the vehicle. (R. 241). Even if Defense Exhibit #20 had been admitted into evidence, it is unlikely the jury would have found the letter to be credible. The statements made in the letter are contradicted by each eyewitness who testified at trial. Furthermore, the claims made in the letter do not make logical sense. For the jury to find the letter credible, they would have to believe that Appellant arrived in a stolen vehicle to pick up Strong and either didn't notice Strong loading stolen electronics into the car or didn't think there was anything out of the ordinary in doing so. Because the jury was unlikely to find the letter credible and the evidence against Appellant was overwhelming, any error by the trial judge in refusing to admit Defense Exhibit #20 was harmless. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.